# **STANDARD FORM 298**

. .

U

U

U

7

RE	PORT DOCU	MENTATION	PAGE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden for this collection completing and reviewing this collection Washington Headquarters Services, Dire other provision of law, no person shall b THE ABOVE ADDRESS.	n of information is estimated to av of information. Send comments r ectorate for Information Operations e subject to any penalty for failing	erage 1 hour per response, including regarding this burden estimate or any s and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jeffe to comply with a collection of inform	the time for reviewing instructions, s other aspect of this collection of info grson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Ar aation if it does not display a current	earching existing data so rmation, including sugge lington, VA 22202-4302 y valid OMB control nun	arces, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and stions for reducing this burden to Department of Defense, a Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any aber. PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM	-YYYY) 2	. REPORT TYPE		3. DA	TES COVERED (From - To)
29-05-2009	I	FINAL REPORT	0.5	JUI	Y 2008 to JULY 2009
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE				5a. C	ONTRACT NUMBER
Case Study: The Venov Hospital	us Thromboembolis	m Collaborative Tea	m at the Johns Hopk	ins 5b. C	
				50. F	ROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER
6. AUTHOR(S)				5d. F	ROJECT NUMBER
HAMILTON, MIC	HAEL, T, Capta	ain, USAF, MSC		5e. T	ASK NUMBER
				5f. W	ORK UNIT NUMBER
7. PERFORMING ORGAN	ZATION NAME(S) AN	D ADDRESS(ES)		8. PE REP	RFORMING ORGANIZATION ORT
Johns Hopkins Hospita 600 North Wolfe Stree Administration 320 Baltimore, MD 21287	al t				
9. SPONSORING / MONIT US Army Medical Dep BLDG 2841 MCCS-H0	ORING AGENCY NAM artment Center and GE-HA (Army-Bay)	IE(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) 1 School lor Program in Healt	h & Business	10. S	PONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)
Administration) 3151 Scott Road, Suite	1411	0		11. S N	PONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT /UMBER(S)
Fort Sam Houston, TX	78234-6135			34-0	19
12. DISTRIBUTION / AVA Approved for public rele 13. SUPPLEMENTARY NO	ILABILITY STATEME ease; distribution is u	NT Inlimited	20100	)329	227 -
				-	
14. ABSTRACT In an eff facility, the Johns By implementing a co screen patients upon patients based on as admissions in 2004 t who do not acquire a	ort to combat new Hopkins Hospital mputer based deci admission to the sociated risk. To o 1.31% in 2008. VTE during their	regulatory require formed a multi-disc sion support system hospital and to as date, Johns Hopkin This change in inci stay and a potenti	ements as well as 1 siplinary Venous Th 1, the VTE Collabor sist providers in s Hospital has red dence represents a al cost savings of	mprove the growboembolism ative was abl choosing appruced the inci reduction of over \$1.2 Mi	their (VTE) Collaborative in 2005. The to implement a tool to copriate prophylaxis for dence of VTE from 2.39% of tover 330 patients per year illion annually.
15. SUBJECT TERMS Venous Thromboembo	olism, Pulmonary E	mbolism, Deep Vein '	Thrombosis, Comput	ter-based Deci	sion Support System
16. SECURITY CLASSIFIC	CATION OF:		17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT	18. NUMBER OF PAGES	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON Education Technician
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	UU	36	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98 Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18

area code) (210) 221-6443

# VTE COLLABORATIVE TEAM CASE STUDY

Graduate Management Project

Case Study: The Venous Thromboembolism Collaborative Team at the Johns Hopkins Hospital

Prepared By

Captain Miehael T. Hamilton

For Partial Completion of the

U.S. Army-Baylor Graduate Program in Health and Business Administration

21 May 2009

## Acknowledgements

This Graduate Management Project would not be possible without the help and support of the Johns Hopkins VTE Collaborative. Specifically, I would like to thank Dr. Michael Streiff, Dr. Elliott Haut, Deborah Hobson, Peggy Kraus, and Howard Carolan, members of the team during the academic year that I spent at Johns Hopkins. I would also like to thank Dr. Brad Beauvais for his guidance in the completion of this project.

#### Abstract

In an effort to combat new regulatory requirements as well as improve the quality of patient care in their facility, the Johns Hopkins Hospital formed a multi-disciplinary Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) Collaborative in 2005. By implementing a computer based decision support system, the VTE Collaborative was able to implement a tool to screen patients upon admission to the hospital and to assist providers in choosing appropriate prophylaxis for patients based on associated risk. To date, Johns Hopkins Hospital has reduced the incidence of VTE from 2.39% of admissions in 2004 to 1.31% in 2008. This change in incidence represents a reduction of over 330 patients per year who do not acquire a VTE during their stay and a potential cost savings of over \$1.2 Million annually. This study profiles the VTE Collaborative efforts in their fight against these preventable conditions.

# Table of Contents

Abstract
Table of Contents4
Introduction
Background
VTE Prevention Efforts at Johns Hopkins Hospital
Methods and Procedures15
Results
Discussion
Recommendations
Conclusion
References
Appendix A
Appendix B
Appendix C
Appendix D
Appendix E

#### Introduction

On September 15<sup>th</sup>, 2008, the acting Surgeon General of the United States announced a "Call to Action" on the prevention and treatment of Deep Vein Thrombosis and Pulmonary Embolism (O'Riordan, 2008). This Call to Action highlights the public health concerns and the risk factors associated with the medical conditions in an effort to increase public awareness as well as to encourage healthcare providers to initiate processes for prevention. The National Institutes for Health, the National Quality Forum, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, and the Joint Commission are all heavily involved in the prevention of these conditions and have started developing standards for new reporting measures. The involvement of all of these organizations indicates a strong consensus that something needs to be done to prevent these conditions in hospitals nationwide.

This case study profiles the efforts of the Johns Hopkins Hospital (JHH) Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) Collaborative team and what they have done to combat Deep Vein Thrombosis (DVT) and Pulmonary Embolisms (PE). Initially formed in 2005, this team has been working towards a solution to increase VTE screening for inpatients at the hospital as well as give appropriate prophylaxis for patients based on risk category in an effort to reduce incidence and promote prevention in the facility. Through the use of evidence based medicine as well as a Collaborative of medical and administrative staff, the team developed a computer based decision support system to aid with both screening and prophylaxis of this often preventable medical condition. The resulting schema are provided in this paper for potential adoption in other hospital settings.

#### Background

Deep vein thrombosis is a medical condition in which the blood clots in one or more places in the body due to a variety of risk factors. A pulmonary embolism, the more fatal of the two, is also a clotting condition in which a portion of the initial blood clot travels through the blood stream and can block pulmonary arteries, which can often lead to death (The Surgeon General, 2008). Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) is a term used to describe any thromboembolic event that occurs within the venous system to include both DVT and PE (Fitzmaurice & McManus, 2002).

Based on two studies completed in Worcester Massachusetts and Olmsted County Minnesota, the incidence rate of VTE is approximately 1 in 1000. Using the results of these studies, the Surgeon General estimates that there are between 250,000 and 600,000 new cases of VTE each year in the United States (The Surgeon General, 2008). These preliminary studies indicate a high incidence rate and a low rate of prevention and appropriate prophylaxis. As a result, there has been a significant initiative within the medical community to develop programs to establish best practices and minimize the incidence rate.

The implications of acquiring VTE during a hospital stay not only put the patient at a higher risk for further medical problems, but can also be very costly for both patients and hospitals. According to a study conducted by Ollendorf, Vera-Llonch, and Oster (2002) on patients who obtained a VTE following orthopedic surgery, the mean length of stay for hospital patients was more than twice as long as for patients who did not obtain a VTE. The study also found that the mean total costs of inpatient carc was almost twofold higher for patients with VTE versus those without (Ollendorf et al., 2002).

Several of the most important medical decision bodies in the United States, to include the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, the Joint Commission, and the National Quality Forum have all joined the fight against VTE. With the goal of prevention, several groups have introduced either new legislation or compliance requirements that will eventually force hospitals and other medical facilities to consider the risk of VTE in daily practice.

In 2006, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) began investigating ways to reduce "never events" in hospitals as reported by the National Quality Forum (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2006). According to the CMS never events, like surgery on the wrong body part or mismatched blood transfusion, cause serious injury or death to beneficiaries, and result in increased costs to the Medicare program to treat the consequences of the error (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2006). Through the use of its Inpatient Prospective Payment System, CMS now restricts the payment of extra costs associated with certain medical conditions (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2008a). The cost of care associated with treatment of preventable medical conditions acquired within a hospital can drastically increase operating costs.

On August 4, 2008, CMS released its latest list of hospital acquired conditions for which it would no longer pay (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2008b). Acquiring a VTE in association with total-hip replacement and total knee replacement is now considered a never event, and hospitals have to pay for the additional care associated with acquiring the condition . In a speech given to the National Coalition to prevent Dcep Vein Thrombosis, Dr. Thomas Valuek of CMS stated that although these were two very specific procedure types, CMS is currently in the process of expanding its payment rules for all DVTs and PEs acquired for hospital stays (Valuek, 2009).

As Ollendorf et al. noted in their study, the length of stay for patients can nearly double if a VTE is acquired during their stay (Ollendorf et al., 2002). Their study noted that patients who received a DVT during their stay spent an average of 11.5 days in the hospital and patients that acquired a PE during their stay spent 12.4 days on average for their inpatient stay. Their study also noted that the average length of stay for patients after undergoing a major procedure was 5.4 days, a difference of about 7 extra days within the facility (Ollendorf et al., 2002). If a CMS rule declaring VTE a never event is passed, the prevention of DVT and PE within hospitals will be at the forefront of quality intervention measures across the country.

The Joint Commission and the National Quality Forum (NQF) have been working jointly to develop hospital-reportable quality measures. Since 2004, the Joint Commission and the NQF have jointly worked on researching and developing prevention standards for VTE risk within hospitals (Dunn, P. & Hill, C. D., 2004). As a result of their extensive research, the Joint Commission released and the National Quality forum endorsed two public reporting standards in 2006 (Corrigan, 2006). These two basic measures include the percent of surgery patients with recommended prophylaxis ordered and the percent of surgery patients who receive appropriate prophylaxis within 24 hours prior to and after surgery (SG Call to Action, 2008). Collecting and reporting these data will increase awareness of hospitals that are not performing to established quality standards.

Several studies have shown that the implementation of a computer-based decision support system (CDSS) for the prevention of VTE can not only influence physician behavior in the appropriate preventative treatment and prophylaxis of VTE, but can also significantly reduce the risk of acquiring the condition and improve compliance with regulatory guidelines. Computer-based decision support systems are defined as "any software designed to directly aid

in clinical decision making in which characteristics of individual patients are matched to a computerized knowledge base for the purpose of generating patient specific assessments or recommendations that are then presented to clinicians for consideration" (Hunt et al., 1998, p. 1339). Hunt et al. found that computer-based decision support systems can increase performance for preventative care, drug dosing and other aspects of medical care (Hunt et al., 1998).

Between 1997 and 1999, Durieux et al. conducted a study of the effectiveness of a CDSS implemented for screening and appropriate prophylaxis of VTE in an orthopedic surgery department (Durieux et al., 2000). In this study, a CDSS for VTE was added into a provider order entry system. The VTE CDSS took patient information already in the system, aligned the risk factors and gave the provider a recommendation for the appropriate treatment and prophylaxis of the patient. The authors found that physician compliance with VTE guidelines increased by 12% after CDSS adoption.

In a second study, Kucher et al. from Brigham and Women's hospital in Boston, used a CDSS linked to a patient database to identify patients at risk for VTE (Kucher et al., 2005). In this study, the CDSS utilized a randomized selection of patients and screened them for appropriate risk. If the patients were not on prophylaxis, the program would alert the doctor of a recommendation for appropriate care. Researchers found that the risk of VTE within 90 days after treatment was reduced by 41% with the use of the CDSS (Keucher et al., 2005).

# VTE Prevention Efforts at Johns Hopkins Hospital

In late 2004 and early 2005, increased regulatory pressure on hospitals to evaluate various anticoagulation measures prompted JHH to start looking into VTE rates and compliance. With over 33,000 inpatient admissions per year, the risk of patients acquiring VTE poses a substantial patient care and financial risk to the hospital. Under the direction of the Johns

Hopkins Quality Improvement Council, patient chart audits were conducted for some of the high-risk departments to validate adherence to compliance with evidence-based medicine supporting prevention measures based on the appropriate risk to patients. The compliance measures were taken directly from the American College of Chest Physicians standards of care guidelines published in 2004 (Geerts et al., 2004). After completing a random chart audit of several high-risk areas within the facility, the quality council concluded that risk assessment and appropriate prophylaxis given to patients was very poor throughout, with no department having over 53% compliance.

Based on the results of the chart audit and the expected future requirements for national reporting, the Quality Council formed the VTE Collaborative to investigate and develop solutions to improve these conditions at the hospital. The JHH VTE Collaborative was charged with developing a way to accurately risk stratify patients, educating medical providers to give appropriate prophylaxis when indicated, and increasing VTE awareness and prevention methods across the facility. With the main goals of reducing the incidence of VTE across the hospital, the multi-disciplinary team spent the next several years developing and implementing various initiatives.

Based on previous studies showing the effectiveness of implementing a CDSS for VTE prophylaxis and sereening, the VTE Collaborative developed a CDSS for VTE sereening at JHH that built on the Hospital's existing Provider Order Entry (POE) system. The Collaborative created a CDSS platform within the POE system because of its wide spread use among providers within the facility to input admission orders. Thus, the first step in the development of the CDSS was to meet and discuss system requirements with POE programmers. Although the POE staff were able to develop a basic platform for the VTE order set, the main part of the programming

for the program was the actual flow of the risk assessment and prophylaxis. Because of the complexity of risk in various clinical situations, the VTE Collaborative worked with the clinical leadership and frontline staff to develop schemes appropriate to the type of procedure or patient being seen.

The resulting schema are largely based upon evidenced based medicine guidelines as outlined by the American College of Chest Physicians (Geerts et al., 2004). To date, a total of 11 schemes have been developed. Figure 1 shows an example VTE prophylaxis scheme for the general trauma department. Additional schemes that have been created can be viewed in Appendix A. After each scheme was developed and beta tested it was activated in the POE system and a series of educational events for the medical staff of each affected unit was provided. A complete list of the units currently active with a POE order set for VTE upon admission can be seen in Appendix B.



Figure 1. Example VTE Prophylaxis Scheme - Trauma

The CDSS product uses the patient information that has been previously entered into POE to populate basic information, such as patient age, weight, etc. The CDSS prompts the provider to answer a series of questions and the system automatically figures out the appropriate risk category of the patient. Once risk level has been determined, the provider chooses an appropriate prophylaxis for the patient. The provider has the option to choose an appropriate prophylaxis and also has the option to opt out if they do not feel prophylaxis is necessary. A sercenshot of the CDSS in POE can be seen in Appendix C.

As part of the overall development, an analytical database was developed to look at the data by department to see how each department is performing. The key reason for developing

this database was not only to be able to extract data from the POE CDSS that was created, but also to provide reports to the leadership of the institution concerning VTE prophylaxis and risk assessment compliance at all levels for the use in continuous quality improvement. To date, automated reports have been developed to assess risk stratification within 24 hours and prophylaxis compliance levels for the facility. All reports also come with a delinquent list for patients that do not meet the requirements of the program, which is in turn used for quality improvement and continuing education for medical units. An example of a report produced for risk stratification compliance can be seen in Appendix D.

The Department of Medicine is by far the largest department identified in this study. With over 13,000 inpatient visits in 2008, the department had more than triple the amount of inpatients than other departments. Because of the volume of patients, reducing the risk of VTE in this department was critical. Looking at their trend over 2008, the Department of Medicine consistently stratified patients for risk over 90% of their visits, with a mean for the year of 95.55%, indicating that on average, over 95% of patients admitted to this department are screened for risk of VTE prior to their admission.

The next important measure to look at when analyzing the reduction in incidence for this department is the compliance with appropriate prophylaxis. Although the preliminary results in the reduction of incidence indicate the department is doing well in assigning appropriate prophylaxis, on average, the department is only giving appropriate prophylaxis to approxametly 72% of patients. Figure 3 below shows the Department of Medicine compliance with appropriate prophylaxis from May-Dec 2008.



Figure 2. Department of Medicine VTE Risk Screening Within 24 Hours.



Figure 3. Department of Medicine Compiance With Appropriate Prophylaxis

Prior to the VTE Collaboratic initiatives, there were few, if any procedures in place to screen patients for VTE risk and assign appropriate prophylaxis. If there were tools in place, there was no way to measure performance. Although the Department of Medicine only has an average of 72% compliance with appropriate prophylaxis, the department saw a decrese in incidence of 13.29 people per thousand between 2004 and 2008, the department had a reduction of 13.29 people per thousand. It ean only be assumed that the implementation of the CDSS and other VTE prevention efforts had a significant impact on this reduction.

# Methods and Procedures

Although the database analysis tool assesses compliance for providers and various departments, statistical performance evaluation of the VTE initiative has not yet been performed. This case study fills the void and evaluates data to analyze the impact of the VTE Collaboration efforts. The main research question of this study is to determine whether or not the efforts of the VTE Collaborative have had a significant impact on the incidence of VTE at Johns Hopkins.

The data used in this study were extracted from the Datamart system at JHH. Datamart is a data repository where all final patient information is stored, to include all coding and financial data associated with each patient visit. All inpatient records from 2004 and 2008, with the exception of Inpatient Psychiatry and Inpatient Pediatries, were used in the study for a total of 32,698 patients in 2004 and 33,605 patients in 2008. Because prevention efforts began in 2005, 2004 data were used as a baseline to test for results. 2008 data were used because it was the most eurrent complete year at the time this study was completed.

After the final data set was obtained, a query was completed to search for records containing any Current Procedure Technology (CPT) codes that relate to VTE or PE. The codes included in the query are listed in Appendix E. Once these records were identified, sorted into

their respective inpatient departments, and screened for duplicate data, the raw incidence rate was calculated for each department by dividing the total number of people who were diagnosed with DVT or PE by the total amount of patients seen in the department per year. Once the raw incidence was calculated, the data for each department were converted into an incidence per thousand rate to standardize the data for comparison across departments. The incidence rates by department are shown below in Table 1.

Table 1

Departmennt	2004	2008
Medicine	28.97	15.68
OBGYN	9.88	4.51
Adult trauma	14.05	5.42
Cardiac surgery	28.27	31.63
Neurology	16.88	8.35
General surgery	21.74	12.73
Onc/Endo surgery	11.72	10.33
Thoracic	17.58	13.22
Transplant	35.83	19.49
Urology	6.90	3.54
Plastics	9.85	6.23
Oncology	61.82	22.85
Neurosurgery	15.46	12.51
ENT/OTO	2.77	5.89
Orthopedic surgery	11.15	7.90
PM&R	51.23	22.22

Incidence per 1000 by Department

Based on the data above, there appears to be a significant reduction on the incidence rate of VTE since adoption of the CDSS at Johns Hopkins. However, in order to determine if there has been a statistically significant impact in the reduction of VTE, the incidence rates from 2004 and 2008 were analyzed using a single factor analysis of variance to test for a difference in the means. The null hypothesis for this test is that there is no difference in the means of the two samples. The results of the analysis of variance can be seen in Table 2 below.

#### Results

Based on the results of the analysis of variance, the null hypotheses cannot be rejected at the .05 alpha level. It is important to note however, that the results of this test were very close. A p-value of 0.06 indicates that there is a strong possibility that the underlying data are significant and that more research should be conducted in this area when more data are available or other covariates can be considered. Because the data were broken out into department by year, and there were only 16 departments analyzed, there were only 32 total data points analyzed, which further reduces the power of the analysis.

#### Table 2

Analysis of Variance Results								
Source of								
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value			
Between Groups	626.6621	1	626.6621	3.813449	0.060227			
Within Groups	4929.884	30	164.3295					
Total	5556.546	31						

#### Discussion

Although the null hypothesis in this study could not be rejected, indicating no significant difference in the means pre and post CDSS implementation, the overall results of the VTE Collaborative efforts are still commendable. With over 33,000 inpatients a year, a reduction of approximately 1.31% of total incidence across the hospital equates to over 330 patients a year who do not acquire a VTE during their inpatient stay. The overall incidence rate for the facility

dropped from 23.95 per thousand in 2004 to 13.12 per thousand in 2008. These results alone show significant progress in the reduction of incidence at this hospital.

Lowering the incidence within JHH may also have significantly positive financial implications. As the overall incidence rate has decreased, so have the cost implications for JHH. Table 3 compares 2004 versus 2008 VTE incidence rates and derives the potential number of patients with VTE based on the number of 2008 inpatient discharge number. Multiplying JHH's average inpatient bed cost of \$475 by the additional days in the hospital and the number of patients provides a total cost for VTE that has been avoided of over \$1.2 million dollars. This figure is for treatment alone and docs into account the opportunity cost of potential new patients filling beds and generating more revenue for the hospital.

Table 3.

Year	Incidence	2008 Discharges	Patients With VTE	Additional In-Patient Days	Additional Cost
2004	2.39%	33605	803	5622	\$2,670,505.34
2008	1.31%	33605	440	3082	\$1,463,749.79
Difference	1.08%	n/a	363	2541	\$1,206,755.55

Financial Impact of VTE Incidence Reduction at JHH

#### Recommendations

Although JHH's initial results arc promising, a significant amount of work remains to ensure the VTE initiative moves forward. The VTE Collaborative should continue to focus on quality improvement by working with departments to improve their compliance. Maynard noted similar compliance levels in his hospital after the initial CDSS was put in place (Maynard, 2009).

Through trend analysis and continuous quality improvement initiatives, he was able to increase compliance and further reduce incidence rates at his facility.

The primary recommendation is to expand JHH's VTE efforts to ensure completion of the analysis tool for trend analysis and quality improvement. Once the analysis databasc is complete for all units, additional education efforts could be completed by the VTE Collaborative. In order to close the gap to ensure further compliance, the VTE Collaborative should plan to introduce quality improvement measures for each department to improve compliance and maximize performance. Eventually, real-time data may be available for the VTE team to use in educating providers while the patients are still at the facility. Ideally the VTE team members may be able to see if patients are getting the appropriate prophylaxis and could to intervene if necessary to ensure appropriate care.

The second recommendation is for the various inpatient departments at the hospital to adopt VTE compliance metrics into their dashboard reporting system. All of the departments at Johns Hopkins use dashboard reporting to show compliance with various quality indicators. The use of this system could give the leadership of the various departments throughout the facility an increased visibility of the compliance among their departments and could contribute to increased compliance throughout the hospital. As part of the analysis database, monthly reports could be generated to show unit, department, and facility-wide compliance. The transparency of data among the different departments would also be helpful with reporting requirements from regulatory agencies. Although no guidelines currently exist, when regulatory measures are published, JHH may already have a way to track performance throughout the hospital and convey improvement. This initiative also provides a basis for further research as more data becomes available. Further research could be done to specifically show if there has been an impact by department and by specific service. Once data are obtained for each service, not only could a comparison by service performed but a more powerful study with the same design as this study could also be completed.

As there are over 33,000 visits per year, and data can be obtained for each of these patients, another possibility is to develop a regression model to determine appropriate risk factors for VTE. Although there is a significant amount of literature currently available on this topic, conducting this type of analysis can add to the current body of literature to either validate or disprove some of the current knowledge.

A fourth recommendation is to investigate some areas of the hospital in greater depth. Specific areas of concern arc the Cardiac Surgery and the Ear Nose and Throat/Otolaryngology Departments. Both of these departments actually incurred an increase in incidence rates since the implementation of the CDSS. As more accurate data becomes available for these two departments, further research is needed to determine the root cause of these increases.

The last recommendation is to develop a capability to be able to provide provider specific compliance feedback. Currently, the analysis tool only reports by service, not by specific provider. If there is a way for provider-specific data to be obtained, it will enable the collaborative members to give educational feedback to other medical professionals within the facility and further increase the awareness and the potential prevention possibilities through the use of the CDSS.

### Conclusion

Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism are two very dangerous conditions that can be prevented with the proper attention and prophylaxis. Regulatory bodies across the country have undertaken large studies and have started paying close attention to these two conditions from a patient safety perspective. With almost every major regulatory body introducing new requirements surrounding acquiring these conditions in an inpatient setting, prevention is critical to the success of any hospital both for financial liability and quality of patient care purposes.

The JHH VTE Collaborative was formed to combat increasing regulatory pressures as well as low rates of compliance within the hospital. By implementing a computer based decision support system, providers across the hospital now have a tool to appropriately risk stratify patients for VTE as well as prescribe the appropriate prophylaxis. The hospital has also seen a decrease in VTE incidence of over 13 people per thousand since the formation of the VTE Collaborative . Furthermore, by promoting awareness and hosting hospital-wide awareness campaigns, the Collaborative continues to work to spread knowledge of VTE and the implications of correctly treating appropriate risk.

The JHH VTE Collaborative is an excellent example of what can be accomplished when a motivated group of multi-disciplinary staff members from across a large medical institution combine efforts and work towards a common goal. Although there is still a lot of work to do with completing the implementation, the collaborative is well on its way to reducing the risk of acquiring VTE risk in patients at the facility. These efforts serve as a great model for other facilities hoping to implement similar processes. With the combined support of hospital leadership, quality improvement experts and other key leaders within an institution, these accomplishments can be attained at virtually any medical facility in the country in an effort to reduce the rates of Deep Vein Thrombosis and Pulmonary Embolism in our population.

#### References

American Heart Association (2004). Venous thromboembolism - statistics. Retrieved on

September 22, 2008 from

http://www.americanheart.org/downloadable/heart/1136823273598VenousThromb06.pdf

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (2006). Eliminating serious, preventable, and costly medical errors – never events. Retrieved on January 20, 2009 from http://www.cms.hhs.gov/apps/media/press/release.asp?Counter=1863

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (2008a). Quality measures for reporting in fiscal

year 2009 for 2010 update. Retrieved on September 20, 2008 from

http://www.cms.hhs.gov/apps/mcdia/press/factsheet.asp?Counter=3044

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (2008b). CMS improves patient safety for medicare and medicaid by addressing never events. Retrieved on January 31 from http://www.cms.hhs.gov/apps/media/press/factshect.asp?Counter=3224&intNumPcrPage =10&checkDate=&checkKey=&srchType=1&numDays=3500&srchOpt=0&srchData=& keywordType=All&chkNewsType=6&intPage=&showAll=&pYear=&year=&desc=false &cboOrder=date
- Dunn, P. & Hill, C.D. (2004). Joint commission, national quality forum to work on deep vein thrombosis prevention and care project. Retrieved on October 13, 2008 from http://www.jointcommission.org/NR/rdonlyres/D6BD8CA5-3F3D-47A4-8F72-79D242360494/0/DVT080604.pdf
- Durieux, P., Nizard, R., Ravaud, P., Mournier, N., & Lepage, E. (2000). A clinical decision support system for prevention of venous thromboembolism. *JAMA*, 283(21), 2186-2821.
- Fitzmaurice, D. A. & McManus, R. J. (2002) Retrieved on October 4, 2008 from http://www.aafp.org/afp/20020801/british.html

- Joint Commission (October, 2008). National consensus standards for the prevention and care of venous thromboembolism. Retricved on February 16, 2009 from http://www.jointcommission.org/PerformanceMeasurement/PerformanceMeasurement/V TE.htm
- Geerts, W. J., Graham, F. P., Heit, J. A., Bergquist, D., Lassen, M.R., Colwell, C. W, et al. (September, 2004). Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism. *CHEST*, *126*, 338S-400S.
- Hunt, D. L., Haynes, R. B., Hanna, S. E., Smith, K. (1998). Effects of computer-based clinical decision support systems on physician performance and patient outcomes. *JAMA*, 290(15), 1339-1346.
- Keucher, N., Koo, S., Quiroz, R., Cooper, J. M., Paterno, M. D, Soukonnikov, B., et al. (2005). Electronic alerts to prevent venous thromboembolism among hospital patients. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 352(10), 969-977.
- Maynard, G. (2009, January). Developing an evidence-based screening tool. Symposium conducted at the meeting of the Coalition to Prevent Deep Vein Thrombosis, Washington, District of Columbia.
- National Institute for Clinical Studies (2003, July). Interventions to improve uptake of venous thromboembolism prophylaxis in hospitals. Retrieved on October 1, 2008 from http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/nics/asp/index.asp?page=materials/materials\_subject\_article&c id=5212&id=413
- National Quality Forum (2008). Measure information form SCIP-VTE 1-1. Specifications Manual for National Hospital Quality Measures

Ollendorf, D. A., Vera-Llonch, M., & Oster, G. (2002, September 15). Cost of venous thromboembolism following major orthopedic surgery in hospitalized patients. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 59, 1750-1754

O'Riordan, M. (2008, September 15). US Surgeon General Issues "Call to Action" on DVT and PE. Retrieved September 16, 2008, from http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/580540
The Surgeon General (2008). The surgeon general's call to action to prevent deep vein

thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. Retrieved on September 16, 2008 from http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/topics/deepvein/calltoaction/call-to-action-on-dvt-2008.pdf

Valuck, T. (2009, January). CMS VTE Quality Measures. Symposium conducted at the meeting of the Coalition to Prevent Deep Vein Thrombosis, Washington, District of Columbia.

Appendix A



Figure A1. General Medicine Scheme



Figure A2. Trauma Scheme



Figure A3. General Surgery Scheme



Figure A4. Cardiac Surgery Scheme



Figure A5. Orthopedic Hip/Knee Replacement Scheme



*Figure A6.* Orthopedic shoulder arthroplasty, knee or shoulder arthroscopy, hand surgery or ankle fracture scheme.



Figure A7. Orthopedic Spine Surgery Scheme



Figure A8. Orthopedic Trauma Scheme



Figure A9. Neurology VTE Scheme



Figure A10. Neurosurgery VTE Scheme

# Appendix B

# List of Participating Clinical Units

### Department of Medicine

ACS Barker ACS Janeway ACS Longcope ACS Thayer Assistant Chief Serv Cardiology Endocrinology Gastroenterology General Medicine Hospitalist Service Infectious Diseases Internal Medicine Pulmonary Renal Diseases Rheumatology

## **Department of Surgery**

GI Surgery Halsted Residents Halsted Trauma Plastics Surgical Oncology/Endocrine Thoracic Surgery Trauma Vascular Surgery

# **Department of Orthopedics**

Ortho Trauma Orthopedics Adult Ortho Spine

# Appendix C

Patient Age:						Relevant Results					
ý.									Z		
Combined Measurem eight (inches)	ents Height (cm)	Weight (lb)	Weight (kg)	BSA	вмі	Creatinine Clearance (Actual) Creatinine (mg/dl)	Creat Clear (actual)	C Estimated			
ECTION A: Does the	patient have any m	ajor VTE risk factors?				SECTION B: Does the patient hav	re any contraindications to phan	macologic prophylaxis?			
	Prev	vious VTE [				Current use of systemi	ic anticoagulation 🗂				
	Spinal cord in	njury (SCI) ["				Active bleeding					
	Lower extremi	ly fracture				High risk of bleeding [					
Severe he	Perv An Discount Alsoneat	er than 21				Sono organ injury j Pelvic or retroperitonezi bematoma 🗂					
Injury sev	ventu score (ISS) mi	ore than B				Ocular injury with hemorrhade					
Shock at	admission (SBP less	: than 90) 🗂				Traumatic brain injury [					
Surgical pro	ocedure greater that	n 30 mins [**				INR greater than or equal to 1.3					
	Age greate	er than 40 🔽				APTT greater than or equal to 1.3 [					
In	sertion of femoral ve	enous line [				Platelet count less than 50,000 cu mm					
Perioperati	ve bedrest more the	an 2 days F			N	No contrain	ndications known 🔽				
	No nsk facto	rs known (			2						

Figure C1. Provider Order Entry VTE CDSS Screen Shot

# Appendix D

Johns Hopkir	ns Medicine							Print date &	1 time:9/24/20	108 10:02:27 P
Visit Volume S	Stats (VTE) -	200807(Datasou	ce: POE)							Page 1 of
JHH Service		Admission Count	Scm W/24hrs	% Scm W/24hrs	Scm aft/24hrs	% Scm aft/24hrs	Total Screened	% Total Screened	Total Not Scm	% Total Not Scm
MED										
ACS Barker		113	110	97.3%	0	0.0%	110	97.3%	3	2.7%
ACS Janeway		106	106	100.0%	0	0.0%	106	100.0%	0	0.0%
ACS Longcope		102	102	100.0%	0	0.0%	102	100.0%	0	0.0%
ACS Thayer		121	121	100.0%	0	0.0%	121	100.0%	0	0.0%
Assistant Chief	Serv	8	7	87.5%	0	0.0%	7	87.5%	1	12.5%
Cardiology		200	199	99.5%	0	0.0%	199	99.5%	1	0.5%
Endocrinology		15	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	15	100.0%
Gastroenterolog	9V	88	87	98.9%	0	0.0%	87	98.9%	1	1.1%
Geriatrics		8	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	8	100.0%
Hospitalist Serv	rice	117	116	99.1%	0	0.0%	116	99.1%	1	0.9%
Infectious Disea	ases	73	71	97.3%	0	0.0%	71	97.3%	2	2.7%
Internal Medicin	le	88	83	100.0%	0	0.0%	88	100.0%	0	0.0%
Pharmacology		5	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	5	100.0%
Pulmonary		102	95	93.1%	0	0.0%	95	93.1%	7	6.9%
Renal Diseases	1	. 34	34	100.0%	0	0.0%	34	100.0%	0	0.0%
Rheumatology		11	11	100.0%	0	0.0%	11	100.0%	0	0.0%
	MED	1,191	1,147	96.3%	0	0.0%	1,147	96.3%	44	3.7%
NRO										
Neuro Research	r	12	3	25.0%	0	0.0%	3	25.0%	9	75.0%
Neurology		56	54	96.4%	0	0.0%	54	96.4%	2	3.6%
Neurology, Epile	epsy	22	4	18.2%	0	0.0%	4	18.2%	18	81.8%
Neurology, Ped		24	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	24	100.0%
Neurology, Strol	ke	37	36	97.3%	0	0.0%	36	97.3%	1	2.7%
	NRO	151	97	64.2%	0	0.0%	97	64.2%	54	35.8%
ORT										
Adult Ortho Spir	ne	40	40	100.0%	0	0.0%	40	100.0%	0	0.0%
Ortho Trauma		3	3	100.0%	0	0.0%	3	100.0%	0	0.0%
Orthopedics		66	66	100.0%	0	0.0%	66	100.0%	0	0.0%
	ORT	109	109	100.0%	0	0.0%	109	100.0%	0	0.0%
ото										
Dental Surgery		1	1	100.0%	0	0.0%	1	100.0%	0	0.0%
Otolaryngology		73	62	84.9%	0	0.0%	62	84.9%	11	15.1%
	ото	74	63	85.1%	0	0.0%	63	85.1%	11	14.9%
REH Rehabilitation		50	50	100.0%	0	0.0%	50	100.0%	0	0.0%
	REH	50	50	100.0%	0	0.0%	50	100.0%	0	0.0%

Figure D1. Analysis tool VTE screening compliance report

# Appendix E

Table E1

-

ICD-9 Codes Included in Study

ICD-9 Codes	Code Description
451	Phlebitis and thrombophlebitis
451.11	Femoral vein (deep) (superficial)
451.19	Other
451.2	Of lower extremities
451.81	Iliac Vein
451.82	Of superficial veins of u9per extremities
451.83	of deep veins of upper extremities
451.84	of upper extremities, unspecified
451.9	of unspecified site
453	other venous embolism and thrombosis
453.2	of vena cava
453.8	of renal vein
	Iatrogenic pulmonary embolism and
415.11	infarction